
1 

 

 CLAY COUNTY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  

REGULAR SCHEDULED PUBLIC MEETING 

1845 TOWN CENTER BLVD, STE 410, FLEMING ISLAND, FLORIDA 

July 21, 2021 

 
  

AGENDA 

CHAIR                KEITH WARD 

VICE-CHAIR              DANIEL VALLENCOURT 

TREASURER              TIFFANY HOWARD 

SECRETARY              CHEREESE STEWART 
 

               

1) Welcome/Call to Order 4:00 pm                                                     Keith Ward 

 

2) Roll Call Josh Cockrell 

 

3) Invocation & Pledge Bruce Butler 

 

4) Comments from the Public Keith Ward 

 

5) Secretary’s Report Chereese Stewart 

Approval of June 16, 2021 Minutes 

 

6) Treasurer’s Report  Tiffany Howard 

June 2021 Financials 

  

7) Clay EDC Report JJ Harris 

 

8) Chair’s Report  Keith Ward 

 

9) Executive Director’s Report Josh Cockrell 

Grants Update 

Update on College Drive Properties 

  

10) Attorney’s Report April Scott 

 

11) Old Business/New Business/Board Comments Keith Ward 

Approval of Resolution for 419C College Drive Purchase 

College Drive Next Steps  

  

12) Adjournment Keith Ward 

 

 

 

 

 



2 

 

Dates of Upcoming CCDA Meetings:   

August 18, 2021 

September 15, 2021 

 

TIME:          4:00 PM 

 

LOCATION:  Clay County Chamber of Commerce  

      Board Room 

      1845 Town Center Blvd 

      STE 410 

      Fleming Island, FL 32003 

    

 

NOTE:  Items 5 through 11 above, are subject to discussion, consideration, and action by 

the Board of the Clay County Development Authority.   

 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS:  Pursuant to F.S. s. 286.0114 (2020) [, and Clay County 

Development Authority policy], speakers intending to offer public comment must complete a 

provided speaker’s card, turn in the same to the recording secretary for the public meeting, 

and may address the Board when recognized by the Chair of the meeting with their public 

comments for a period of not more than three (3) minutes.  The Chair of the meeting has 

the authority and discretion to make special provisions for a group or faction 

spokesperson.  The Chair of the meeting has all requisite authority and discretion to 

maintain orderly conduct or proper decorum of the public meeting.  

 



CLAY COUNTY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
REGULAR SCHEDULED PUBLIC MEETING 

MINUTES 
 

June 16, 2021 
 

Present: Joelle Marquis, Tina Clary, Jim Horne, Tiffany Howard, Keith Ward, Daniel 
Vallencourt, and Bruce Butler (teleconference) 
 
Absent: Chereese Stewart and Amy Pope-Wells 
 
Staff: Josh Cockrell and April Scott (Legal Counsel) 
 
Guests: Jeremy Johnston of Clay County Utility Authority 
 
Call to Order: Keith Ward called the Clay County Development Authority (”CCDA”) Public 
Meeting to order at 4:04 PM.  
 
Invocation: April Scott provided the invocation and Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
Comments from the Public: None.  
 
Secretary’s Report 
Josh Cockrell presented the meeting minutes from the April 21 and May 19 meetings.  Jim 
Horne motioned for approval and Joelle Marquis seconded the motion.  Unanimously 
approved.   
 
Treasurer’s Report 
Tiffany Howard presented the May Financial Report.  The account balance at the end of 
April was $1,357,442.  Land purchases were $595,317.  Net income change was $670,805. 
Jim Horne motioned for approval of the May Financial Report.  Tiffany Howard seconded 
the motion.  Unanimously approved.   
 
Old Business 
Josh Cockrell presented the purchase sale agreements and matching resolutions for the 
property purchases on College Drive.  The property at 419D College Drive is under contract 
and scheduled to close Friday, June 18.  The .28 acres property is under contract for 
$120,000 plus 3% broker fees.  Total amount spent for 4.5 acres will be $1,018,000.  
Vestcor has stated that they can use the property for mixed use development.    Joelle 
Marquis asked for clarification on the use of cash versus financing the property purchases.  
Josh Cockrell discussed the financing strategies going forward.  Joelle Marquis asked if 
there is a milestone for property acquisition?  Josh Cockrell stated that CCDA is trying not 
to spend more than $1million for property acquisition, which they have exceeded.  If the 
county participates, more property could be acquired.  Jim Horne motioned for approval of 
Resolution 20202021-04, the parcel is .766 acres for a price of $159,000.  Joelle Marquis 
seconded the motion.  Motion approved.  Joelle Marquis motioned for approval of 
Resolution 20202021-5 for the .3 acre parcel at 401 College Drive at a not to exceed price 
of $119,000 plus closing costs.  Tina Clary seconded the motion.  Motion approved.  Joelle 
Marquis motioned for approval of Resolution 20202021-06 for the .28 acre parcel at 419D 



College Drive at a price of $120,000 plus broker commission fees of 3%.  Jim Horne 
seconded the motion.  Motion approved.   
 
Chair’s Report 
Keith Ward discussed a conversation he had with Vestcor related to potential workforce 
housing development on the assembled College Drive site.  The fire department will be 
burning the existing buildings for training exercises on Tuesday, June 29 in the evening.  
The Boy Scouts will be cleaning the personal items from the house.  There will be a 3-day 
cooling period after the fire and then the debris will need to be removed.  Bruce Butler 
recommended that lunch and beverages should be purchased and provided for the fire 
fighters and Boy Scouts.  Keith Ward stated that they are no longer allowed to receive food 
from the public.   
 
Clay County Utility Authority Report 
Jeremy Johnston reported that growth in the county is still strong.  CCUA is working to 
overcome hiring challenges.  CCUA is also working to overcome supply chain issues to 
purchase equipment and supplies.  Jeremy Johnston briefly overviewed the regulatory 
issues they are working to mitigate.  CCUA will create a developer agreement to work with 
CCUA for project cost reimbursement on the back end of the project.  The water/sewer 
engineering will be done to optimize efficiency.  Josh Cockrell inquired about the ERC 
agreement in terms of units per acre.  Jeremy Johnston expressed a need to ensure that 
the water main is appropriately sized for the anticipated usage.  The group discussed local 
development activity.   
 
Executive Director’s Report 
Josh Cockrell reported on DIG.  Camp Blanding will be matching the DEO amount of 
$500,000 once that is issued.  Josh Cockrell anticipates some movement on the grants next 
month.   
 
New Business  
Keith Ward stated that Amy Pope-Wells will be resigning her seat on the CCDA Board.  
Joelle Marquis introduced herself to the group.  She is a partner in Arsenal Capital 
Partners in New York City and owns Legacy in Action locally.   
 
Attorney’s Report 
April Scott did not have anything to discuss. 
 
Adjourned: 5:37 PM 
 



 

 

  

ACCOUNTANTS’ COMPILATION REPORT 

To the Board of Directors of 
Clay County Development Authority 
Fleming Island, FL 
 

Management is responsible for the accompanying government-wide balance sheets of Clay 
County Development Authority (a governmental organization) as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, and 
the related statements of revenues and expenses for the one month and nine months then ended 
which collectively comprise the Authority’s financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We have performed a compilation 
engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services 
promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. We did not audit 
or review the financial statements nor were we required to perform any procedures to verify the 
accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management. We do not express an 
opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on these financial statements. 

Management has elected to omit the management discussion and analysis, the governmental 
fund financial statements and substantially all the disclosures required by accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. If the management discussion and analysis 
and governmental fund financial statements and omitted disclosures were included in the financial 
statements, they might influence the user’s conclusions about the Authority’s financial position, 
results of operations, and cash flows. Accordingly, the financial statements are not designed for 
those who are not informed about such matters. 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that budget to 
actual statements for the one month and nine months ending June 30, 2021 be presented to 
supplement the financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be 
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. This information is the representation of 
management. This information was subject to our compilation engagement; however, we have 
not audited or reviewed the required supplementary information and, accordingly, do not express 
an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on such information. 

We are not independent with respect to the Clay County Development Authority. 

 
July 14, 2021 



Clay County Development Authority
Governmentwide Balance Sheet

As of June 30, 2021

     1/1

TOTAL

AS OF JUN 30, 2021 AS OF JUN 30, 2020 (PY)

ASSETS

Current Assets

Bank Accounts

100002 CenterState Bank Checking - 1484 22,686 46,283

100007 Investment - Florida Prime - A 163,091 162,732

100018 CenterState Bank MMKT -1493 878,295 1,844,853

Total Bank Accounts $1,064,072 $2,053,868

Accounts Receivable

115002 Revenue Receivable 100,000 0

Total Accounts Receivable $100,000 $0

Total Current Assets $1,164,072 $2,053,868

Fixed Assets

167900 Accum Depreciation 0 0

Total Fixed Assets $0 $0

TOTAL ASSETS $1,164,072 $2,053,868

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

200000 Accounts Payable (8,140) 263

Total Accounts Payable $ (8,140) $263

Other Current Liabilities

Dept of Revenue Payable 0 0

Total Other Current Liabilities $0 $0

Total Current Liabilities $ (8,140) $263

Total Liabilities $ (8,140) $263

Equity

272000 Net Asset Balance 2,077,913 2,160,197

320000 Retained Earnings 0 0

Net Income (905,701) (106,592)

Total Equity $1,172,212 $2,053,606

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $1,164,072 $2,053,868

Read Accountants Compilation Report



Read Accountants Compilation Report



Clay County Development Authority
Statement of Revenues and Expenses

October 2020 - June 2021

     1/1

TOTAL

OCT 2020 - JUN 2021 OCT 2019 - JUN 2020 (PY) CHANGE

Income

331000 Grant Revenues 100,000 790,000 (690,000)

369000 Miscellaneous Revenues 1,929 17,694 (15,765)

Total Income $101,929 $807,694 $ (705,765)

GROSS PROFIT $101,929 $807,694 $ (705,765)

Expenses

512200 Sponsorships 15,000 64,866 (49,866)

513300 Professional Fees 83,760 84,035 (275)

513440 Insurance 2,381 2,330 51

513460 Property binders / purchase deposits 800,139 800,139

513510 Office and Operating Expenses 6,350 8,055 (1,705)

559000 Grant Expense 100,000 755,000 (655,000)

Total Expenses $1,007,630 $914,286 $93,345

NET OPERATING INCOME $ (905,701) $ (106,592) $ (799,110)

NET INCOME $ (905,701) $ (106,592) $ (799,110)

Read Accountants Compilation Report



Read Accountants Compilation Report



Clay County Development Authority
Budget vs. Actuals: FY 20/21 Budget - FY21 P&L

October 2020 - June 2021

     1/2

TOTAL

ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET

Income

331000 Grant Revenues

242000 Fund Balance - PY Carryforward 59,755 (59,755)

330118 CON 20-101 Buffer Land Purchase 100,000 100,000

330120 DIG #S0136 Roadway Resurfacing 346,667 (346,667)

330121 DIG #S0136 Roadway Resurfacing Admin Fees 20,000 (20,000)

330122 CON 21-101 Buffer Land Purchase 485,000 (485,000)

330123 CON 21-101 Buffer Land Purchase Admin Fees 15,000 (15,000)

Total 331000 Grant Revenues 100,000 926,422 (826,422) 11.00 %

369000 Miscellaneous Revenues

361000 Investment Earnings 1,898 18,000 (16,102) 11.00 %

369005 Miscellaneous Revenue 31 31

Total 369000 Miscellaneous Revenues 1,929 18,000 (16,071) 11.00 %

Total Income $101,929 $944,422 $ (842,492) 11.00 %

GROSS PROFIT $101,929 $944,422 $ (842,492) 11.00 %

Expenses

512200 Sponsorships

512500 Funding to CEDC 15,000 15,000 0 100.00 %

512600 Clay Day Event Sponsor 500 (500)

Total 512200 Sponsorships 15,000 15,500 (500) 97.00 %

513300 Professional Fees

513306 Admin Contract StellaRea Group 58,500 58,500 0 100.00 %

513310 Attorney Contract Tolson & Associates 10,260 10,260 0 100.00 %

513320 Auditor Contract James Moore CPAs 10,500 10,500 0 100.00 %

513321 Accounting Coleman & Associates 4,500 4,275 225 105.00 %

513335 Accounting Ancillary Charges 850 (850)

513340 Attorney Ancillary Charges 2,565 (2,565)

Total 513300 Professional Fees 83,760 86,950 (3,190) 96.00 %

513440 Insurance

513443 General Liability Coverage 2,400 (2,400)

513445 Commercial General Liability/Property 2,381 630 1,751 378.00 %

Total 513440 Insurance 2,381 3,030 (649) 79.00 %

513460 Property binders / purchase deposits 800,139 800,139

513510 Office and Operating Expenses

513490 Business Meeting 100 225 (125) 44.00 %

513494 Dues & Subscriptions 2,905 2,500 405 116.00 %

513512 Office Supplies 225 (225)

513516 Telephone 685 720 (35) 95.00 %

513517 Licenses & Fees 175 175 0 100.00 %

513518 Website & IT expenses 1,080 1,860 (780) 58.00 %

513519 Travel 1,245 900 345 138.00 %

Read Accountants Compilation Report



Clay County Development Authority
Budget vs. Actuals: FY 20/21 Budget - FY21 P&L

October 2020 - June 2021

     2/2

TOTAL

ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET

513520 Conferences 300 (300)

513521 Advertising & Marketing 140 270 (130) 52.00 %

513522 Bank Service Charges 20 20

513524 Recognition 100 (100)

Total 513510 Office and Operating Expenses 6,350 7,275 (925) 87.00 %

559000 Grant Expense

559015 CON 20-01 Buffer Land Purchase 100,000 485,000 (385,000) 21.00 %

559016 DIG #S0136 Roadway Resurfacing 346,667 (346,667)

Total 559000 Grant Expense 100,000 831,667 (731,667) 12.00 %

Total Expenses $1,007,630 $944,422 $63,209 107.00 %

NET OPERATING INCOME $ (905,701) $0 $ (905,701) 0%

NET INCOME $ (905,701) $0 $ (905,701) 0%

Read Accountants Compilation Report



CCDA Resolution No. 2020/2021-07 Page 1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020/2021-07 

RESOLUTION OF CLAY COUNTY 

DEVELOPMENT  AUTHORITY (THE 

“AUTHORITY”) AUTHORIZING THE  

PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED IN 

CLAY COUNTY; AUTHORIZING OFFICERS AND 

CONTRACTED ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF TO 

TAKE OTHER AND FURTHER ACTIONS 

REASONABLY NECESSARY OR HELPFUL IN 

FURTHERANCE OF THIS RESOLUTION; AND 

PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

BE IT RESOLVED, BY THE FORMAL ACTION OF THE AUTHORITY, THAT THE 

FOLLOWING ACTION IS HEREBY ADOPTED AS THE LEGAL AND BINDING ACTION AND 

RESOLUTION OF THE AUTHORITY, PERTAINING TO THE ABOVE SUBJECT MATTER 

SPECIFIED. 

BACKGROUND RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Authority has deemed it timely and appropriate to 

develop real estate parcels for commercial use within Clay County, and 

WHEREAS the Board of Directors has discussed a proposal to purchase certain real property  

located at 419 C College Dr, Middleburg, Florida 32068 (“Property”) as same may be more fully described 

in that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement dated July 1, 2021 (“Contract”) attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit A, and  

 WHEREAS, the board of directors has approved the terms of the Contract and deems it appropriate 

for officers and staff to consummate the contemplated sale of the property at a Purchase Price not to exceed 

$145,000 plus buyer’s reasonable closing costs and real estate commission for buyer’s agent upon the 

approval of counsel,  

 NOW, THEREFORE, THE FOLLOWING ACTION IS HEREBY FORMALLY ADOPTED 

BY THIS RESOLUTION NO. 2020/2021-07, DATED EFFECTIVE THIS 21
st
 DAY OF JULY, 2021, 

AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  Resolved that the proposal for the purchase of the Property as set forth above are hereby 

approved at a Purchase Price not to exceed $145,000 plus buyer’s reasonable closing costs and real estate 
commission for buyer’s agent upon the approval of counsel.  

 

Section 2.  Resolved that Officers and contracted administrative staff are directed to execute and 
deliver on behalf of the Authority documents deemed reasonably necessary and approved by counsel for 

the Authority and take any other such action necessary to consummate the purchase of the Property and to 

execute any title affidavit, closing statement or other documents reasonably necessary and approved by 
counsel to consummate the said sale of the Property on the terms set forth above. 

 



CCDA Resolution No. 2020/2021-07 Page 2 
 

Section 3.  This Resolution 2020/2021-07 and the formal action set forth shall be effective 

immediately upon adoption. 

DULY ADOPTED THIS 21
st
 DAY OF JULY, 2021, BY THE CLAY COUNTY DEVELOPMENT 

AUTHORITY. 

   

                   CLAY COUNTY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

       BY:     ______ 

       KEITH WARD, CHAIR 

 

 

       BY:       

CHEREESE STEWART, SECRETARY 

 

 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

COUNTY OF CLAY 

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of physical presence this 21st day 

of July, 2021, by Keith Ward as President and Chereese Stewart as Secretary, of the Clay County 

Development Authority, a public body corporate and politic of the State of Florida, each of whom are 

personally known to me.   

 

______________________________________                                                                       

Notary Public, State of Florida 

 
















	Agenda CCDA July 2021.pdf
	CCDA Minutes 06162021.pdf
	Accounting reports for June 2021 - CCDA - 7-14-21.pdf
	RESOLUTION.2020.2021.07.pdf
	419CCollegeDriveContract.pdf



